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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
GARY POWELL, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
SPANISH TRAIL LUMBER COMPANY, 
 
 Respondent. 
                               

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 10-2488 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
A formal hearing was conducted in this case on July 2, 

2010, in Tallahassee, Florida, before Suzanne F. Hood, 

Administrative Law Judge with the Division of Administrative 

Hearings.   

APPEARANCES 

 For Petitioner:  Gary Powell, pro se
                      6782 Bumpy Lane 
                      Grand Ridge, Florida  32442 
 
 For Respondent:  Eric J. Holshouser, Esquire 
                      Fowler White Boggs, P.A.   
                      50 North Laura Street, Suite 2800 
                      Jacksonville, Florida  32202 
 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 The issue is whether Respondent discriminated against 

Petitioner based on his race contrary to Section 760.10, Florida 

Statutes (2009). 

 



PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 On or about June 30, 2009, Petitioner Gary Powell 

(Petitioner) filed a Charge of Discrimination with the Florida 

Commission on Human Relations (FCHR).  The charge alleged that 

Respondent Spanish Trail Lumber Company (Respondent) had 

discriminated against Petitioner based on his race.   

 On April 30, 2010, FCHR issued a Determination: No Cause.  

On May 7, 2010, Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief with 

FCHR.  The petition was referred to the Division of 

Administrative Hearings on May 11, 2010.   

 A Notice of Hearing dated May 20, 2010, scheduled the 

hearing for July 2, 2010.   

 During the hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf 

and presented the testimony of three witnesses.  Petitioner did 

not offer any exhibits for admission into the record as 

evidence. 

 Respondent presented the testimony of one witness and 

offered three exhibits that were accepted as evidence.   

 The Transcript was filed on July 20, 2010.  Respondent 

filed its Proposed Recommended Order on July 28, 2010.  As of 

the date that this Recommended Order was issued, Petitioner had 

not filed proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law.  

 Except as otherwise noted, all references hereinafter shall 

be to Florida Statutes (2009). 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

 1.  Respondent operates a lumber mill in a community known 

as Cypress near Marianna, Florida.  In 2007, Respondent hired 

Petitioner, an African-American male, to operate a 966 

Caterpillar loader (the loader) at the mill.   

 2.  Melvin Lewis is an African-American male.  Mr. Lewis is 

a second-shift supervisor.  At all times relevant here, 

Mr. Lewis was Petitioner's immediate supervisor.   

 3.  Mr. Lewis reports directly to Ross Jackson, a white 

male.  Mr. Jackson has been Respondent's general manager since 

January 2008.   

 4.  In May 2008, Mr. Lewis told Petitioner that the loader 

was slowly leaking brake fluid.  Mr. Lewis instructed Petitioner 

to always check the loader to ensure that it had brake fluid.   

 5.  On or about Thursday, May 28, 2009, between 2:30 a.m. 

and 3:00 a.m., Petitioner was involved in an accident while 

operating the loader.  Petitioner told Mr. Lewis that a log fell 

onto the loader, the brakes failed, and the loader went over a 

retaining wall. 

 6.  After the accident, Mr. Lewis immediately checked the 

brake fluid reservoir.  He found the reservoir empty.   

 7.  Petitioner knew or should have known the standard 

procedure to follow when, and if, a log rolled onto a loader.  
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In that event, the loader operator was supposed to immediately 

call his supervisor on the two-way radio and request help.   

 8.  At the time of the accident, Petitioner and Mr. Lewis 

had working two-way radios.  Petitioner used the radio to call 

Mr. Lewis right after the accident.  He did not call for help 

when the log first rolled onto the loader.   

 9.  On May 28, 2009, Petitioner was operating the 966 

loader on a ramp that is 75-feet long and 40-feet wide with a 

retaining wall on each side of the ramp.  At the high end of the 

ramp is a flat area where Petitioner was picking up logs from a 

pile.   

 10.  To get off of the flat part of the ramp, Petitioner 

had to accelerate backwards to then go down the ramp.  When the 

accident occurred, Petitioner had traveled almost all of the way 

down the 75-foot ramp and then turned the loader 90 degrees 

toward the retaining wall.  To go over the one and one-half foot 

retaining wall, the loader must have been traveling at a fairly 

high rate of speed.   

 11.  The accident tore the transmission off of the loader.  

The loader was inoperable and had to be repaired.  The cost of 

the repairs was over $14,000.   

 12.  After the accident, Mr. Lewis told Petitioner that 

"this is really bad."  Mr. Lewis first directed Petitioner to 
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clock-out and go home.  Mr. Lewis then told Petitioner to stay 

until Mr. Jackson arrived at work at 5:00 a.m.   

 13.  When Mr. Jackson came in to work, he told Petitioner 

that he would be suspended until Mr. Jackson and Mr. Lewis had a 

chance to review the situation.  Mr. Jackson told Petitioner to 

report back on Monday, June 1, 2009.   

 14.  Mr. Lewis decided that Petitioner should not be 

allowed to operate equipment for the following reasons:  

(a) Petitioner failed to keep brake fluid in the loader as 

instructed; (b) Petitioner failed to call for help on his radio 

when the log rolled onto the loader; and (c) with the log on the 

loader, Petitioner accelerated backward down the ramp, turned 

the loader 90 degrees, and drove the loader fast enough to hit 

the retaining wall and bounce over it.   

 15.  Mr. Lewis recommended termination of Petitioner's 

employment.  Mr. Jackson concurred.  Petitioner was terminated 

on June 1, 2009.   

 16.  No evidence indicates that the decision to terminate 

Petitioner's employment was based on his race.  There was no 

persuasive evidence that Respondent gave any white employee more 

favorable treatment under similar circumstances.   
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 17.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

proceeding pursuant to Sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11, 

Florida Statutes.   

 18.  It is unlawful for an employer to discriminate against 

an individual based on the individual's race.  See 

§ 760.10(1)(a), Fla. Stat.   

 19.  The Florida Civil Rights Act (FCRA), Sections 760.01 

through 760.11, Florida Statutes, as amended, was patterned 

after Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 

Section 2000e et seq.  Federal case law interpreting Title VII 

is applicable to cases arising under the FCRA.  See Green v. 

Burger King Corp., 728 So. 2d 369, 370-371 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); 

Florida State Univ. v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1996).   

 20.  Petitioner can establish a case of racial 

discrimination through statistical, direct, or circumstantial 

evidence.  See Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1561-1562 (11th 

Cir. 1997).  In this case, Petitioner presented no statistical 

or direct evidence of discrimination.   

 21.  An employment discrimination case based on 

circumstantial evidence involves the following burden-shifting 

analysis:  (a) the employee must first establish a prima facie 
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case of discrimination; (b) the employer may then rebut the 

prima facie case by articulating a legitimate non-discriminatory 

reason for the employment action in question; and (c) the 

employee then bears the ultimate burden of persuasion to 

establish that the employer's proffered reason for the action 

taken is merely a pretext for discrimination.  McDonnell Douglas 

Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802-805 (1973).   

 22.  To establish discrimination in discipline or by 

unlawful termination, Petitioner must show the following:  

(a) he belongs to a protected group such as a minority race; 

(b) he was qualified for the job; (c) he was subjected to an 

adverse employment action; and (d) a similarly-situated 

employee, who is not a member of the protected group, engaged in 

the same or similar misconduct, but did not receive similar 

discipline or termination.  See Nicholas v. Board of Trustees, 

251 Fed. Appx. 637, 642 (11th Cir. 2007).   

 23.  To determine whether employees are similarly situated, 

one must consider whether "the employees are involved in or 

accused of the same or similar conduct and are disciplined in 

different ways."  See Maniccia v. Brown, 171 F.3d 1364, 1368 

(11th Cir. 1999).  In order to make that determination, courts 

"require that the quantity and quality of the comparator's 

misconduct be nearly identical to prevent . . . second-guessing 
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employers' reasonable decisions and confusing apples with 

oranges."  Id. at 1368. 

 24.  During the hearing, Petitioner testified that a white 

employee, Joe Todd, was treated differently after causing an 

accident.  It is true that Mr. Todd was involved in a minor 

accident, but unlike Petitioner, Mr. Todd did not cause any 

damage whatsoever to Respondent's equipment.    

25.  Mr. Todd's accident was more like Petitioner's two 

prior accidents.  Discipline was unnecessary for the minor 

accidents because Respondent's equipment was not being operated 

recklessly.    

 26.  On the other hand, Respondent presented evidence that 

Petitioner was not the only employee to have been terminated by 

Mr. Jackson for reckless operation of equipment.  Mr. Jackson 

terminated a white man, Doug Snoke, for reckless operation of 

equipment.   

 27.  Petitioner failed to show that he was similarly 

situated with any other non-African-American.  Petitioner caused 

significant and costly damage to a piece of valuable machinery.   

 28.  Assuming that Petitioner established a prima facie 

case, Respondent produced evidence of a legitimate and 

nondiscriminatory reason for its action, i.e. Petitioner's 

improper operation of the loader.  Petitioner did not show that 
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this reason was a pretext for intentional racial discrimination.  

Petitioner has not met his burden of proof in this case.   

RECOMMENDATION 

 Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

 RECOMMENDED: 

 That the Florida Commission on Human Relations enter a 

final order dismissing the Petition for Relief.   

DONE AND ENTERED this 10th day of August, 2010, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                         
SUZANNE F. HOOD 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 10th day of August, 2010. 

 
 
COPIES FURNISHED: 
 
Eric J. Holshouser, Esquire 
Fowler, White and Boggs, P.A. 
50 North Laura Street, Suite 2800 
Jacksonville, Florida  32202 
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Gary Powell 
6782 Bumpy Lane 
Grand Ridge, Florida  32442 
 
Denise Crawford, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
Larry Kranert, General Counsel 
Florida Commission on Human Relations  
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 
All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case.  
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
DORINE ALEXANDER, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
BAR-B-QUE MANAGEMENT INC., 
d/b/a SONNY’S REAL PIT BAR-B-Q,
 
 Respondent. 
                               

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 10-1818 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
A formal hearing was conducted in this case on June 7, 

2010, in Ocala, Florida, before Suzanne F. Hood, Administrative 

Law Judge with the Division of Administrative Hearings. 

APPEARANCES 

 For Petitioner:  Dorine Alexander, pro se
                      307 Marian Oaks Course 
                      Ocala, Florida  34473 
 
 For Respondent:  Joanne B. Lambert, Esquire 
                      Jackson Lewis, LLP 
                      390 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1285 
                      Post Office Box 3389 
                      Orlando, Florida  32802-3389 
 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 The issue is whether Respondent, Bar-B-Que Management, Inc. 

d/b/a Sonny's Real Pit Bar-B-Q (Respondent), discriminated 

against Petitioner, Dorine Alexander (Petitioner), based on an 

alleged disability and her race.   



PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 On or about August 31, 2009, Petitioner filed an Employment 

Complaint of Discrimination against Respondent.  The complaint 

alleged that Respondent failed to accommodate her alleged 

disability, and discriminated against her based on race and by 

constructively discharging her.   

 The Florida Commission on Human Relations (FCHR) issued a 

Determination: No Cause on March 3, 2010.  Petitioner filed a 

Petition for Relief with FCHR on April 1, 2010.  FCHR referred 

the case to the Division of Administrative Hearings on April 5, 

2010. 

 A Notice of Hearing dated April 19, 2010, scheduled the 

hearing for June 7 and 8, 2010.   

 When the hearing commenced, Petitioner testified on her own 

behalf.  She did not present the testimony of any other 

witnesses or offer any exhibits as evidence.   

 Respondent presented the testimony of six witnesses.  

Respondent offered 55 exhibits that were accepted as evidence.   

 The Transcript of the proceeding was filed on July 13, 

2010.  Petitioner's Proposed Recommended Order was filed on 

July 21, 2010.  Respondent's Proposed Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law were filed on August 2, 2010.   

 Except as otherwise noted, all references hereinafter shall 

be to Florida Statutes (2009).   
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

 1.  Respondent is a management company with employees at 16 

franchise-owned restaurants in central and north-eastern 

Florida.  Respondent has employment policies that prohibit 

discrimination on the basis of race and disability.  It also has 

policies that provide for reasonable accommodation of employees 

with disabilities.   

 2.  Respondent's policies inform employees about the 

procedure to be followed in reporting perceived race or 

disability discrimination.  The policies prohibit retaliation 

against employees who report perceived discrimination.    

 3.  Petitioner is an African-American female.  Respondent 

employed her as a cashier in its Belleview, Florida, location 

from July 14, 2008, to April 5, 2009.   

 4.  At the beginning of her employment, Petitioner was 

aware of Respondent's policies relative to discrimination.  

Respondent provided her with a copy of its Team Member Handbook 

containing the policies.   

 5.  Petitioner's duties included working as a cashier in 

both the drive-thru and at the front counter.  She also was 

responsible for stocking all takeout areas and completing side 

work.   

 6.  Initially, Petitioner's job required her to perform 

deck scrubbing.  However, when Petitioner notified her manager 
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that deck scrubbing made it difficult for her to breathe, she no 

longer had to perform that task.  Petitioner never complained 

that she continued to have breathing difficulties even when 

others were performing deck scrubbing.   

 7.  Respondent accommodated Petitioner's alleged breathing 

problem even though Petitioner never provided Respondent with 

requested medical documentation indicating that she had asthma 

or any other respiratory difficulties.  There is no competent 

evidence to show that Petitioner is disabled.   

 8.  In the Fall of 2008, Respondent demoted the general 

manager at the restaurant where Petitioner worked.  The demotion 

was based on poor performance, including not enforcing company 

policies and failing to hold employees accountable for 

compliance with company policies and performance standards.   

 9.  Respondent directed the new management team to enforce 

company policies and to issue discipline when appropriate.  The 

directive was communicated to the restaurant's employees.   

 10.  After the change in management, Petitioner received 

numerous disciplinary write-ups.  The write-ups included the 

following:  (a) violation of Respondent's policy against use of 

cell phones during working hours; (b) violation of Respondent's 

policy against smoking on the premises and/or parking lot while 

in uniform during working hours; (c) violation of Respondent's 

attendance policy, requiring employees to arrive at work on time 
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and to attend mandatory meetings unless excused; (d) violation 

of Respondent's cash-handling policy, resulting in cash overages 

and shortages; and (d) violation of Respondent's work 

performance standards by failing to stock supplies and complete 

other side work duties.   

 11.  Non-black employees received written discipline for 

the same violations as Petitioner.  At least one white employee 

was terminated for violating the cell phone usage policy.   

 12.  Prior to February 2009, Petitioner worked an average 

of 25 hours per week.  The fewest number of weekly hours worked 

by Petitioner after February 2009 was 19 hours.  Petitioner 

worked 19 hours for only two weeks.   

 13.  Petitioner asserts that she was not allowed to "pick 

up" extra shifts when another cashier went on vacation for five 

days.  Scheduling requests had to be submitted by Tuesday for 

the next week's schedule.  Petitioner failed to timely request 

any of the extra available shifts.  Instead, she approached the 

scheduling manager after the schedule was already completed.  

Despite the lateness of her request, the scheduling manager 

revised the schedule to assign Petitioner one extra shift.   

 14.  Beginning in January 2009, Respondent's schedules were 

created and posted on-line through a computer program called Hot 

Schedules.  At all times relevant here, the schedule was posted 
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late only three times.  The late posting affected all employees, 

not just Petitioner.   

 15.  Petitioner asserts that she was assigned to work the 

drive-thru more than white employees.  This assertion is without 

merit as shown by the following statistics.   

 16.  Petitioner worked 59 shifts between January 1, 2009, 

and her resignation on April 5, 2009.  Respondent assigned 

Petitioner to work in the drive-thru on 23 of those shifts, 

approximately 39 percent of the total shifts.  Petitioner worked 

at the front counter for the remainder of her shifts, 

approximately 61 percent of the total shifts.   

 17.  Two white cashiers, Brittany Knaul and Sarah Liles, 

worked a comparable number of shifts between January 1, 2009, 

and April 5, 2009.  During that time, Ms. Knaul worked 54 

shifts, with 25 shifts or 46 percent assigned to the drive-thru.  

Of the 86 shifts worked by Ms. Liles, 33 shifts or 38 percent 

were in the drive-thru.  On the other hand, Beatrice McKoy, a 

black cashier, worked almost exclusively at the front counter 

between January 1, 2009, and April 5, 2009.   

 18.  Petitioner sought out and spoke with Respondent's 

Director of Operations, Josh McCall, on several occasions during 

her employment.  The conversations involved her requested 

accommodation and complaints about the disciplinary write-ups.  

Petitioner never reported any perceived race discrimination.   
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 19.  On one occasion, Mr. McCall asked Petitioner if she 

believed she was being discriminated against based on her race.  

Petitioner denied that she was being treated differently from 

non-black employees.   

 20.  Petitioner submitted a letter of voluntary resignation 

on March 30, 2009.  Her last day at work was April 5, 2009.   

 21.  Petitioner asserts that she was constructively 

discharged.  However, Petitioner failed to notify Respondent of 

the alleged discrimination until she spoke with Respondent's 

Area Manager on April 6, 2009, after her resignation and last 

day at work.   

 22.  Shortly after her last day at work for Respondent, 

Petitioner voluntarily resigned her other job with Internet 

Access.  Petitioner resigned that job due to a dispute with her 

manager.   

 23.  Petitioner obtained subsequent employment which ended 

when that company closed in June 2009.  Petitioner remained 

unemployed until February 2010.  The only employment she held in 

the intervening six months was occasional work assisting her 

sister, who is a home health aide. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 24.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 
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proceeding pursuant to Sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11, 

Florida Statutes. 

 25.  It is unlawful for an employer to discriminate against 

an individual based on the individual's race or disability.  See 

§ 760.10(1)(a), Fla. Stat.   

 26.  The Florida Civil Rights Act (FCRA), Sections 760.01 

through 760.11, Florida Statutes, as amended, was patterned 

after Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 

Section 2000e et seq.  Federal case law interpreting Title VII 

is applicable to cases arising under the FCRA.  See Green v. 

Burger King Corp., 728 So. 2d 369, 370-371 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); 

Florida State Univ. v. Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1996).   

 27.  Florida courts also have recognized that actions under 

the FCRA are analyzed under the same framework as the Americans 

with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 12101, et seq.  See 

Chanda v. Engelhard/ICC, 234 F.3d 1219, 1221 (11th Cir. 2000). 

 28.  Petitioner can establish a case of discrimination 

through statistical, direct, or circumstantial evidence.  See 

Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1561-1562 (11th Cir. 1997).  

In this case, Petitioner presented no statistical or direct 

evidence of discrimination.   

 29.  An employment discrimination case based on 

circumstantial evidence involves the following burden-shifting 
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analysis:  (a) the employee must first establish a prima facie 

case of unlawful discrimination; (b) if a prima facie case is 

proven, the employer may articulate a legitimate, non-

discriminatory reason for the alleged unlawful conduct; and 

(c) the burden then shifts to the complainant to prove that the 

employer's reasons are a mere pretext for intentional 

discrimination.  McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 

(1973); Texas Dep't of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S 248 

(1981).   

 30.  Throughout the burden-shifting analysis, the burden of 

proving intentional discrimination remains at all times with the 

complainant.  St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 

510 (1993).   

Disability Discrimination 

 31.  To prevail on a case involving a failure to 

accommodate a disability, Petitioner must show the following:  

(a) that she is disabled; (b) that she is qualified for the job, 

with or without a reasonable accommodation; and (3) that she was 

denied a reasonable request for accommodation.  See Lucas v. 

W. W. Grainger, Inc., 257 F.3d 1249 (11th Cir. 2001); Willis v. 

Conopco, Inc., 108 F.3d 282 (11th Cir. 1997).    

32.  Petitioner cannot establish the first or third prong 

of her prima facie case.  As to the first prong, Petitioner 

never provided Respondent with requested medical documentation 

 9



of her alleged disability.  Additionally, the only evidence 

presented during the hearing indicated that Petitioner was not 

disabled.    

33.  Petitioner did not prove the third prong of her prima 

facie case because Respondent relieved her of her deck scrubbing 

duties immediately upon her request.  This was the only 

accommodation that Petitioner ever requested.  Petitioner's 

testimony to the contrary is not persuasive.   

 34.  "Failure to establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination ends the inquiry."  See Ratliff v. State, 666 So. 

2d 1008, 1012 n.6, aff'd, 679 So. 2d 1183 (1996)(citing Arnold 

v. Burger Queen Systems, 509 So. 2d 958 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987)).  

Petitioner did not meet her burden of proving a prima facie case 

of discrimination based on an alleged disability.   

Race Discrimination 

 35.  To establish a prima facie case of race 

discrimination, Petitioner must show the following:  (a) that 

she is a member of a protected class; (b) that she was qualified 

for the position; and (c) that similarly-situated employees 

outside the protected group did not suffer the same adverse 

action.  See Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1562 (11th Cir. 

1997).   

 36.  Petitioner first claims that she received written 

discipline for performance and policy violations for which non-
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black employees were not disciplined.  There is no merit to her 

claim because the overwhelming and undisputed evidence is that 

white and Hispanic employees were issued disciplinary write-ups 

for the very same performance and policy violations.  Clearly, 

Petitioner was not treated less favorably than employees outside 

of her protected class with respect to written discipline.   

 37.  Petitioner further asserts that her hours were reduced 

beginning in February 2009.  Petitioner's testimony regarding 

the alleged reduction in hours is contradicted by persuasive 

evidence showing that Respondent scheduled black and white 

cashiers to work without consideration of race.   

 38.  Petitioner next claims that she was not allowed to 

"pick up" extra shifts when another cashier went on vacation for 

five days.  The most persuasive evidence indicates that 

Petitioner failed to timely request extra shifts.  Even so, the 

scheduling manager revised the schedule to assign Petitioner one 

extra shift.   

 39.  Petitioner also alleges that work schedules were 

posted late, causing her difficulty with her second job.  The 

evidence shows that the late posting of schedules affected all 

employees equally.  Therefore, Petitioner did not and could not 

show any differential treatment between black and white 

employees in this regard.   

 11



 40.  Finally, Petitioner contends that she was assigned to 

work in the drive-thru more often that her non-black co-workers.  

This contention is without merit because Petitioner worked in 

the drive-thru the same or less than her white counterparts.   

 41.  Even if Petitioner had established a prima facie case 

of race discrimination, Respondent provided evidence of 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for each action it took.  

With regard to Petitioner's disciplinary write-ups, Respondent 

established that Petitioner violated its written policies and 

procedures.  Petitioner admits most of the violations.   

 42.  As to the alleged reduction in hours, the alleged 

failure to schedule extra shifts, and the late posting of 

schedules, Respondent presented evidence that its scheduling 

manager made all decisions in accordance with Respondent's anti-

discrimination policy.  There is no evidence of race 

discrimination as to these claims.   

 43.  Petitioner has provided no evidence that Respondent’s 

reasons for its actions were a pretext for racial 

discrimination.  Petitioner has not met her ultimate burden of 

proof on this issue.   

Constructive Discharge 

 44.  To prove constructive discharge, a claimant must 

demonstrate that "working conditions were so intolerable that a 

reasonable person in the plaintiff's position would have felt 
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compelled to resign."  Durley v. APAC, Inc., 236 F.3d 651, 658 

(11th Cir. 2000).  Reasonable conduct involves notifying the 

employer of improper behavior, and affording the employer an 

opportunity to correct the situation.  See Slattery v. Neumann, 

200 F. Supp. 2d 1367 (S.D. Fla. 2002).   

 45.  In this case, Petitioner did not produce any evidence 

to show that her working conditions were intolerable to the 

degree required to prove a constructive discharge claim.  The 

issuance of disciplinary write-ups alone is insufficient to 

prove constructive discharge.  See Hill v. Winn-Dixie Stores, 

Inc., 934 F.2d 1518, 1527 (11th Cir. 1991).  There is no 

persuasive evidence of any other adverse employment action 

suffered by Petitioner.   

 46.  Petitioner's claim of constructive discharge also 

fails because she never reported the need for further 

accommodation and never reported the alleged race 

discrimination.  Petitioner was not constructively discharged.   

RECOMMENDATION 

 Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

 RECOMMENDED: 

 That the Florida Commission on Human Relations enter a 

final order dismissing the Petition for Relief.   
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DONE AND ENTERED this 13th day of August, 2010, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                         
SUZANNE F. HOOD 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 13th day of August, 2010. 

 
 
COPIES FURNISHED: 
 
Joanne B. Lambert, Esquire 
Jessica A. DeBono, Esquire 
Jackson Lewis LLP 
390 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1285 
Post Office Box 3389 
Orlando, Florida  32802-3389 
 
Dorine Alexander 
307 Marion Oaks Course 
Ocala, Florida  34473 
 
Denise Crawford, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
Larry Kranert, General Counsel 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 
All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case.  
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vs. 
 
PANAMA CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY, 
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Case No. 10-3164 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
A formal hearing was conducted in this case on July 19, 

2010, in Panama City, Florida, before Suzanne F. Hood, 

Administrative Law Judge with the Division of Administrative 

Hearings.  Pursuant to the agreement of the parties, Petitioner 

participated in the hearing by telephone conference call from 

Kissimmee, Florida. 

APPEARANCES

 For Petitioner:  Adalberto Diaz, pro se
                      2307 Boggy Creek Road, Box 38 
                      Kissimmee, Florida  34744 
 
 For Respondent:  William C. Henry, Esquire 
                      Burke Blue Hutchison 
                        Walters & Smith, P.A. 
                      16215 Panama City Beach Parkway 
                      Panama City Beach, Florida  32413 

 

 

 



STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

 The issue is whether Respondent discriminated against 

Petitioner based on his handicap contrary to Section 760.23, 

Florida Statutes (2009), Fair Housing Act, as amended (the Act). 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 On or about March 9, 2010, Petitioner Adalberto Diaz 

(Petitioner) filed a Housing Discrimination Complaint.  The 

complaint alleged that Respondent, Panama City Housing Authority 

(Respondent), had discriminated against Petitioner based on 

Petitioner’s handicap.  Specifically, the complaint stated that 

Respondent had refused to make a reasonable accommodation for 

his disability.   

 On May 20, 2010, the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(FCHR) issued a Determination:  No Cause.  Petitioner filed a 

Petition for Relief on or about June 1, 2010.  FCHR referred the 

petition to the Division of Administrative Hearings (DOAH) on 

June 9, 2010.  DOAH assigned the case to Administrative Law 

Judge Daniel M. Kilbride.   

 On June 17, 2010, Respondent filed a Response to Initial 

Order and Motion for Summary Hearing.  Judge Kilbride issued an 

Order dated June 28, 2010, granting the request for a change in 

venue and reserving ruling on the Motion for Summary Hearing. 
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 DOAH transferred the case to the undersigned on July 2, 

2010.  That same day, the undersigned issued an Order Denying 

Motion for Summary Hearing.   

 A Notice of Hearing dated July 2, 2010, scheduled the 

hearing for July 19, 2010. 

 On July 7, 2010, Petitioner filed a request to participate 

in the hearing by telephone conference call.  On July 12, 2010, 

the undersigned issued an Order Allowing Testimony by Telephone.   

 When the hearing commenced, a notary public at Petitioner’s 

location confirmed Petitioner’s identity.  The notary then 

administered the oath to Petitioner and his cousin, Sonia 

Maldonado. 

 During the hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf.  

His cousin also testified.  He offered no exhibits. 

 Respondent presented the testimony of three witnesses.  

Respondent offered seven exhibits that were accepted into 

evidence. 

 There was no court reporter at the hearing.  Accordingly, 

there is no transcript of the proceeding. 

 Respondent timely filed a Proposed Recommended Order on 

July 23, 2010.  Petitioner filed a post-hearing letter on 

July 27, 2010.   

 Reference hereinafter is to Florida Statutes (2009), unless 

otherwise noted. 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

 1.  Respondent is a public housing authority that 

administers the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 

(HUD) Housing Choice Voucher Program, known as the “Section 8” 

program, within Bay County, Florida, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1437f. 

 2.  Under the Section 8 program, Respondent uses funds, 

supplied by HUD, to pay a percentage of the monthly rent on a 

leased “unit” directly to the landlord.  The Section 8 tenant 

pays the balance of the monthly rent to the landlord. 

 3.  The percentage paid by Respondent on each Section 8 

voucher is determined by the family’s size, income, medical 

expenses and other similar factors.  The percentage is 

reevaluated annually when the voucher holder is “recertified” 

for continuing eligibility for the Section 8 program by 

Respondent’s staff.  As part of each recertification, the 

voucher holder signs a form listing “Family Obligations” 

required by HUD.  In part, the “Family Obligations” require a 

Section 8 tenant to keep utilities on in the unit and to give 

the landlord and Respondent written notice before moving out of 

a unit. 

 4.  After Petitioner moved from New Jersey to Panama City, 

Florida, he received a Housing Choice Voucher from Respondent on 

March 23, 2005.  He executed a lease for a HUD-approved unit on 
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March 22, 2005.  The lease was originally for a term of one year 

and then automatically became a month-to-month tenancy.  

Paragraph 27 of the lease requires 14-days’ written notice to 

terminate the lease. 

 5.  On June 16, 2009, Petitioner visited Respondent’s 

office and spoke with Andrea Lawson, the Assistant Section 8 

Coordinator.  She knew Petitioner from several re-certifications 

she had conducted on his voucher, the most recent one being on 

February 4, 2009.   

 6.  On June 16, 2009, Petitioner told Ms. Lawson that he 

wanted to move to be closer to friends and family, and that he 

and Ms. Maldonado were “bored” because there were not enough 

activities going on in the area.  For these reasons, Petitioner 

wanted his Section 8 voucher transferred to Osceola County, 

under the "portability" provision of the Section 8 program.  As 

was her normal custom, Ms. Lawson hand-wrote a memo for the file 

memorializing the conversation.   

 7.  Petitioner's testimony relative to the above-referenced 

conversation with Ms. Lawson is not credible.  There is no 

persuasive evidence that Petitioner's apartment flooded in 

February 2009, or that he requested to have his Section 8 

voucher transferred to Osceola County because he was getting 

sicker and the doctors in Panama City did not "understand" him.   
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 8.  The same day as Petitioner’s visit, Ms. Lawson sent an 

inquiry, via telefax, to the housing authority in Osceola 

County, asking if they were “absorbing” Section 8 voucher 

holders.  That term means that the receiving housing authority 

agrees to pay the voucher holder’s rent subsidy in the new 

locale, and that the original housing authority will have no 

further obligations to fund the voucher. 

 9.  The housing authority in Osceola County replied that 

they were not absorbing at that time.  Ms. Lawson telephoned 

Petitioner to inform him of Osceola’s answer. 

 10.  In late fall of 2009, Petitioner telephoned Carol 

Ramer, a Section 8 Coordinator, several times.  He first 

requested that she again ask the housing authority in Osceola 

County if it was absorbing, and later twice requested that she 

ask Orange County if it was absorbing.  The replies from both 

authorities were that they were not absorbing.  Letters mailed 

by Ms. Ramer to the Petitioner, to inform him of the negative 

replies, were returned to her as undeliverable. 

 11.  In early January 2010, Respondent received a letter 

from an attorney, on behalf of Petitioner, requesting that 

Respondent make a reasonable accommodation for Petitioner’s 

handicap by agreeing to pay the voucher subsidy for him in 

Osceola County.  The situation where the original housing 

authority agrees to pay for a voucher outside its jurisdiction 
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is referred to in the lexicon of Section 8 as “porting” or “to 

port”.   

 12.  The letter was the first time Respondent was asked to 

make an accommodation, or to agree to “porting” the Petitioner.  

The letter was also the first indication that Respondent 

received, indicating that Petitioner may have moved to Kissimmee 

in Osceola County on his own. 

 13.  Because of the letter, Ms. Ramer went to the unit in 

Parker, Florida, to see if Petitioner was still residing there.  

She found three United Parcel Service delivery notice stickers 

affixed to the front door; all three were dated in mid-August 

2009.  She also found no signs that the unit was occupied. 

 14.  Ms. Ramer then contacted the City of Parker water 

department and was told the water service to the unit had been 

shut off at the customer’s request on June 18, 2009.  Petitioner 

and his cousin admitted during the hearing that they put the 

water “on-hold” before they left. 

 15.  Petitioner asserts that while “passing through the 

streets” of Kissimmee, he found several apartments that were 

cheaper than the rent on his unit in Parker.  However, he 

admitted that he did not know if those cheaper units met HUD’s 

standards for the Section 8 program. 

 16.  Petitioner admitted during the hearing that he left 

his Section 8 unit in Parker on June 18, 2009, re-located to 
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Kissimmee, and has never returned to Bay County.  He also 

admitted that he never gave his landlord or Respondent any 

written notice that he intended to vacate his unit in Parker.  

In addition, he admitted he is familiar with the Section 8 

Family Obligation rules and signed off that he would comply with 

them. 

 17.  In recent years, HUD has significantly cut back its 

Section 8 funding allotted to local housing authorities.  At the 

same time, the downturn in the economy has increased 

unemployment in Bay County, thus requiring Respondent either to 

pay a greater percentage of existing Section 8 vouchers or to 

terminate some vouchers.   

 18.  Increased unemployment has forced Respondent to 

implement cost cutting measures, including the following:  

(a) through attrition, reducing the number of families served 

under the voucher program from over 420 several years ago to 

only 326 now; (b) issuing no new vouchers; (c) adopting a policy 

that it would not “absorb” voucher holders moving into Bay 

County and would not “port” voucher holders to jurisdictions 

outside Bay County.   

 19.  No one has been "ported" out or "absorbed" in three 

years.  This policy applies across the board to all voucher 

holders.  The only families who have moved out during this 
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period and retained their vouchers are those that were 

“absorbed” by the receiving housing authorities. 

 20.  Both Osceola and Orange Counties are higher cost areas 

than Bay County.  If Respondent were to agree to “port” a 

voucher to either of those counties, it would have to pay more 

than it pays for one family in Bay County, thus reducing its 

ability to serve as many local residents as possible with its 

limited funding. 

 21. Petitioner presented no evidence of quantifiable 

damages. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

 22. The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

proceeding.  See §§ 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.35, Fla. Stat. 

(2010). 

 23. Discrimination in the sale or rental of housing is 

prohibited in Section 760.23, Florida Statutes, as follows in 

relevant part: 

 760.23 Discrimination in the sale or 
rental of housing and other prohibited 
practices. – 
 (1) It is unlawful to refuse to sell 
or rent after the making of a bona fide 
offer, to refuse to negotiate for the sale 
or rental of, or otherwise to make 
unavailable or deny a dwelling to any person 
because of race, color, national origin, 
sex, handicap, familial status, or religion. 
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 (2) It is unlawful to discriminate 
against any person in the terms, conditions, 
or privileges of sale or rental of a 
dwelling, or in the provision of services or 
facilities in connection therewith, because 
of race, color, national origin, sex, 
handicap, familial status, or religion. 
 (3) It is unlawful to make, print, or 
publish, or cause to be made, printed, or 
published, any notice, statement, or 
advertisement with respect to the sale or 
rental of a dwelling that indicates any 
preference, limitation, or discrimination 
based on race, color, national origin, sex, 
handicap, familial status, or an intention 
to make any such preference, limitation, or 
discrimination. 
 

* * * 
 
 (7) It is unlawful to discriminate in 
the sale or rental of, or to otherwise make 
unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any buyer 
or renter because of a handicap of: 
 (a) That buyer or renter . . .  
 

* * * 
 
 (8) It is unlawful to discriminate 
against any person in the terms, condition, 
or privileges of sale or rental of a 
dwelling, or in the provision of services or 
facilities in connection with such dwelling, 
because of a handicap of: 
 (a)  That buyer or renter . . .  
 

* * * 
 
 (9) For purposes of subsection (7) and 
(8), discrimination includes: 
 (a) A refusal to permit, at the 
expense of the handicapped person, 
reasonable modification of existing premises 
occupied or to be occupied by such person if 
such modifications may be necessary to 
afford such person full enjoyment of the 
premises; or 
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 (b) A refusal to make reasonable 
accommodations in rules, policies, 
practices, or services, when such 
accommodations may be necessary to afford 
such person equal opportunity to use and 
enjoy a dwelling. 
 

 24.  The federal Fair Housing Act (42 U.S. Code § 3604) 

contains virtually the same language as the Florida statute. 

 25. In interpreting and applying the Act, FCHR and Florida 

courts regularly seek guidance from federal court decisions 

interpreting similar provisions of federal fair housing laws.  

See Donald Travis and Lisa Harrell v. Anne and John Cutler, Case 

No. 09-3577 (DOAH November 25, 2009). 

 26. In cases involving a claim of housing discrimination, 

the complainant has the initial burden of proving a prima facie 

case of discrimination by a preponderance of the evidence.  See 

§ 760.34(5), Fla. Stat.; Schanz v. Village Apartments, 998 F. 

Supp. 784, 788 (S.D. Mich. 1998).   

 27.  A prima facie showing of rental housing discrimination 

may be established by direct evidence, statistical evidence or 

circumstantial evidence.  Schanz, 998 F. Supp. at 788.  This 

case presents no direct or statistical evidence of housing 

discrimination based on handicap. 

 28.  A prima facie case usually comprises circumstantial 

evidence of discriminatory animus, such as proof that the 

charged party treated persons outside of the protected class, 
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who were otherwise similarly situated, more favorably than the 

complainant was treated.  Failure to establish a prima facie 

case of discrimination ends the inquiry.  See Ratliff v. State, 

666 So. 2d 1008, 1013 n.7 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), aff’d, 679 So. 2d 

1183 (Fla. 1996). 

 29.  If, however, the complainant sufficiently establishes 

a prima facie case, the burden then shifts to the charged party 

to articulate some legitimate, non–discriminatory reason for its 

action.  If the charged party satisfies this burden, then the 

complainant must establish by a preponderance of the evidence 

that the reason asserted by the charged party is, in fact, 

merely a pretext for discrimination.  See Massaro v. Mainlands 

Section 1 & 2 Civic Ass’n, Inc., 3 F.3d 1472, 1476 n.6 (11th 

Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 808 (1994) (“Fair housing 

discrimination cases are subject to the three-part test 

articulated in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 

(1973).”).   

 30.  In order to prove a prima facie case of housing 

discrimination based on a handicap/disability, Petitioner must 

show the following:  (a) he is handicapped/disabled as defined 

by the Act; (b) he was qualified, ready, willing, and able to 

continue occupancy; (c) he requested a reasonable accommodation 

in the rules, policies, procedures, or services that was 
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necessary to afford Petitioner equal opportunity to use and 

enjoy the premises; and (d) Respondent refused to accommodate. 

 31.  Based on Respondent's stipulation, Petitioner is 

handicapped as defined by the Act.  Therefore, Petitioner meets 

the requirements of the first prong of the prima facie case.   

 32. As to the “qualified, ready, willing and able” prong, 

the evidence clearly shows Petitioner violated the terms of his 

lease and failed to comply with the Family Obligations by 

abandoning his Section 8 unit in Bay County.  Additionally, he 

then moved to Osceola County, where he has continuously resided 

for over a year at the time of the hearing, without notice to 

either his landlord or to Respondent. 

 33. The Section 8 law states:  “A family may not receive a 

voucher from a public housing agency and move to another 

jurisdiction under the tenant-based assistance program if the 

family has moved out of the assisted dwelling unit of the family 

in violation of a lease . . . .”  42 U.S.C. § 1437f(r)(5). 

 34. Respondent is specifically prohibited from “porting” 

Petitioner by 24 C.F.R. § 982.353(b), which states:  “The 

initial PHA must not provide such portable assistance for a 

participant if the family has moved out of the assisted unit in 

violation of the lease . . . .” 

 35. Respondent is required to terminate assistance payment 

under 24 C.F.R. § 982.312(b) if a family is “absent from the 
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unit for a period of more than 180 consecutive calendar days in 

any circumstances, or for any reason.”  Petitioner, by his own 

admission, has been absent from his unit in Parker for twice the 

180-day period. 

 36.  Under these U.S. Code and C.F.R. provisions, 

Petitioner is no longer “qualified” or “able” to be “ported” or 

to continue participating in the Section 8 program.  He, 

therefore, fails to prove the second prong of a housing 

discrimination prima facie case. 

 37.  As to the third prong, even if Petitioner were still 

legally able to participate in the Section 8 program, the 

accommodation he is requesting is not reasonable under the facts 

and circumstances.  Due to the dire funding crisis faced by 

Respondent, the policy it has adopted to not “port” or “absorb” 

is reasonable.  The policy also complies with 24 C.F.R. 

§§ 982.314(e)(1) and 982.454 which authorize a housing authority 

to deny permission to “port” or to terminate assistance when the 

authority determines it does not have sufficient funds to 

continue assistance.  Respondent is also authorized to terminate 

assistance because Petitioner has violated his family 

obligations under the Section 8 program.  See 24 C.F.R. 

§ 982.552(c)(i). 

 38. As to the fourth prong, Respondent did not “refuse” to 

make the requested accommodation.  Instead, the law and 
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regulations cited above prohibit portability and require 

termination of assistance. 

 39. Petitioner has provided no evidence that Respondent’s 

reasons for not making an accommodation were a pretext for 

discrimination.  Petitioner’s subjective belief, that he was 

discriminated against, without more, is insufficient to conclude 

that Respondent’s reasons for not making a reasonable 

accommodation were a pretext for discriminatory animus.  

Petitioner has not met his burden of showing discrimination.   

RECOMMENDATION 

 Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

 RECOMMENDED:   

 That the Florida Commission on Human Relations issue a 

final order dismissing the Petition for Relief.   

DONE AND ENTERED this 9th day of August, 2010, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                         
SUZANNE F. HOOD 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
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Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 9th day of August, 2010. 
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Adalberto Diaz 
2307 Boggy Creek Road, Box 38 
Kissimmee, Florida  34744 
 
William C. Henry, Esquire 
Burke Blue Hutchison Walters & Smith, P.A. 
16215 Panama City Beach Parkway 
Panama City, Florida  32413 
 
Denise Crawford, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
Larry Kranert, General Counsel 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 
All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case.  
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